
Santa Clara City Council Work Meeting Page 1 

October 7, 2015 

SANTA CLARA CITY COUNCIL WORK MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2015 

MINUTES 

 

THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF SANTA CLARA, WASHINGTON COUNTY, 

UTAH, met for a Work Meeting on Wednesday, October 7, 2015 at 5:00 p.m. in the City 

Council Chambers of the Town Hall at 2603 Santa Clara Drive, Santa Clara, Utah. 

 

Notice of the time, place and agenda of the meeting was provided to the Spectrum and to each 

member of the governing body by emailing a copy of the Notice and Agenda to the Spectrum 

and also, along with any packet information, to the mayor and each council member, at least 

two days before the meeting. 

 

Present:    Mayor Rick Rosenberg           

Council Members: Jerry Amundsen, Mary Jo (Tode) Hafen and Herb Basso  

      City Manager:         Edward Dickie 

Recorder:       Chris Shelley  

 

Others Present: Brock Jacobsen, Admin Director; Jack Taylor, Public Works Director; Brad 

Hays, Parks Director; Dan Nelson, Fire Chief; Bob Flowers, Police Chief; Matt Ence, City 

Attorney; Corey Bundy, Building Official; Charles Clayton; Jarett Waite 

  

1. Call to Order:  Mayor Rosenberg called the meeting to order at 5:04 p.m. 

  

- Ken Sizemore and David Whitehead were excused from the meeting. 

  

2. Working Agenda:  
 

A. General Business: 

 

1. BLM Resource Management Plan Discussion.  Presented by Mayor Rosenberg. 

- Mayor Rosenberg stated that this was a follow-up on the update the Council had at 

the last meeting.  The County and the local governments and the Governor’s 

Association has been meeting a couple of times a week on this issue.  The Mayor has 

received comments from the MPO and also several comments from citizens.  

Documentation has been put together that talks about the transportation and utility 

corridors.  He also asked Jack Taylor, Public Works Director, to put information 

together relative to expansion of the City’s water system.  Mayor Rosenberg stated that 

some of the alternatives in the Resource Management Plan could threaten Santa Clara, 

which would be a huge blow to Santa Clara as far as providing culinary service in the 

future.  He said that the Western Corridor could be impacted by the RMP.  Comments 

are due next week. 

- Herb Basso asked if there was a comment on shooting. 

- Mayor Rosenberg stated that there is.  He said that there is some limitations on 

shooting.  He said it has to be part of a hunt. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said that the Water District has given some talking points 

concerning utility corridors. 



Santa Clara City Council Work Meeting Page 2 

October 7, 2015 

- Jack Taylor stated that he has received the MPO’s today and he will give that to the 

Mayor.  He said that he looked in the vaults to see if he could find anything on right-

of-ways up into Snow Canyon and there is no documentation whatsoever.   He said 

that he’s not sure if the City owns that property. He said that the water lines are within 

the State Park. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said that he wants Bradi to check to see if there is a BLM strip that 

runs down in between the cities and the Park and if that strip has come out of BLM 

ownership and see if St. George City has a copy of the easements.  He wants to make 

sure that if the City can reference that, it would be good also. 

- Tode Hafen asked if it would be better to write the letters as a citizen or to indicate 

that they are Council members. 

- Mayor Rosenberg stated that it would carry more weight if it’s written by an elected 

official.  He stated that he will be out of town next week so he is trying to get 

everything done on his end this week.  

   

  3.   Golf Cart discussion. 

- Bob Flowers, Police Chief, stated that they need directions from Legal and that would 

determine where they move from there.  He said that if it can be done he would have 

some recommendations on how to make it work. 

- Matt Ence, City Attorney, stated that he did do an opinion on this.  He has a copy and 

will give it to Chief Flowers.  He said he would do a brief summary:  He stated that 

golf carts are only mentioned twice in the State code.  They are excluded from a certain 

classification of motor vehicles.  They are not specifically mentioned in the State code.  

He said it has been a challenge to figure out what is appropriate for use on the City’s 

public streets.  He feels that there is one classification where golf carts could fit.  It’s 

called a utility type vehicle.  The golf cart falls within the definition of a utility type 

vehicle.  Under this classification, they are allowed on public streets if they meet all the 

requirements for a street legal ATV.  It has to be registered like a motorcycle.  All the 

traffic laws have to be followed.   It has to have review mirrors, a blinker, a windshield 

and all the other requirements.  It has to be driven by someone with a driver’s license.  

So, golf carts are allowed but they have to meet all of these requirements.  He said that 

there has been a couple of recent legislative changes that do affect this.  One is that 

there is the potential of having one of these vehicles on a limited access highway.  The 

Legislature added a section that says that street legal ATV’s can be designated to be 

operated on routes for off-highway vehicles.  He said that section is contradictory 

because it also says that no municipality can exclude a street legal ATV from any road 

where a street legal vehicle is permitted.  He said another change is that you could not 

exceed more than 45 mph on a street legal ATV and they have raised that to 50 mph.  

He said that his law firm represented Sun River in negotiations with St. George City on 

use of golf carts in the Sun River community on public streets.  They eventually signed 

an easement agreement where Sun River was granted the right to use golf carts on 

certain roads.  He said he thinks that the City of St. George basically decided to ignore 

the State requirements.  He said that he doesn’t recommend that Santa Clara do that.  

He said it does expose the City to potential liability.   

- Bob Flowers stated that they have made two dozen phone calls to communities and 

not one allows them.  He said that his recommendation is not to allow them.  He said it 

would require a large educational effort and an enforcement issue.  He said that he 



Santa Clara City Council Work Meeting Page 3 

October 7, 2015 

worries that if the State requirements aren’t met that the City is opening itself up to a 

lot of issues.   

- Matt Ence stated that the government immunity that the City would normally have on 

these types of things would be risked by ignoring State requirements. 

- Tode Hafen agreed with the safety requirements and wondered if golf carts could be 

registered with the police department so that they are aware of them and they would 

have to get a sticker or something.   

- Bob Flowers stated that if the Council decided to do this, he would come to the 

Council with recommendations, like registering with the City. 

- Tode Hafen asked about the expense of registering them.  She stated that she spoke 

with Bruce Anderson who has a business that has done these things in the past and he 

said the problem is that it has to meet a lot of requirements for safety inspection. He 

said the cost is prohibitive.   

- Matt Ence asked if she was talking about inspections done by the City in addition to 

what is required by the State.  He said that the State already requires inspections such 

as a person does with their car.  He said that St. George City required Sun River to 

indemnify the City against any losses that the City might have as a result of golf cart 

use.  It gave the City someone they could look to if there was any type of claim.  Santa 

Clara would not have anyone to look to for that. 

- Bob Flowers stated that his recommendation is to stick with the State requirement on 

it.  He said that all it takes is one incident. 

- Tode Hafen restated that you have to get a VIN # in order to register the golf cart.  

She said that is the hang up. 

- Bob Flowers said that he would check that out and give the information to Ed Dickie 

on the VIN # process but he doesn’t believe it is that difficult or expensive. 

- Herb Basso asked if the manufacturer’s # could be the VIN #. 

- Bob Flowers stated that it depends on where the VIN # is and what it is attached to.   

It is often required to be attached to the frame.  He will let Tode Hafen know what he 

finds out.    

 

3 Staff Reports: 

 

Brad Hays 

 None. 

 

- Mayor Rosenberg and Brad Hays were excused from the rest of the meeting because 

they needed to attend the Senior Games. 

- Tode Hafen took over the Meeting as Mayor Pro-tem. 

 

 A.  General Business: 

 

 2.   Power Rates Update.  Presented by Jack Taylor, Public Works Director. 

   

- Jack Taylor stated that they started looking at the City’s revenues and they could see 

that the transmission costs have gone up by about 65%.  It has to do with what Rocky 

Mountain charges.  The City has been eating those costs.  He said that they could see 

that the City’s margins weren’t what they needed to be.  He said the City might be 



Santa Clara City Council Work Meeting Page 4 

October 7, 2015 

close to making their bond covenants.  He said that’s why they got together to see what 

they needed to do.  The Council has asked for a 3 year study of rate amounts to see 

where the rates needed to be to cover the costs (for 2016-2018).  The current rate is 

$17.50.  It is a base rate.  The study is suggesting it be $18.50 for 2016 as a base rate 

and raising the kWh from 0.0810 to 0.0845.  He said it would be an average bill 

increase of 2.11%.  In 2017, the base rate would be $19.50.  In 2018, the base rate 

would increase to $20.00.  He stated that one of the reasons that this needs to increase 

is because the City is not going to meet the bond covenants and also if you look at the 

capital facilities plan, the infrastructure that needs to be put into the City to handle 

future growth, there will not be the revenues to handle that.  He mentioned the 

Washington County Utility Rate Comparison for 2015, and said that Utah Power and 

Light had an increase this last year.  (See attached.)   

- Tode Hafen asked if the 65% transmission increase would apply across the board.  

She wondered if there were municipalities that don’t have to pay for transmission. 

- Jack Taylor said there wasn’t.  He went over other cities rates and the comparisons.  

He stated that the average usage in Santa Clara is 1,100 to 1,200 kWh per household. 

- Herb Basso referred to the 3 Year Rate Summary page and asked what the Class 

Increase of 1.62% was.  He felt that the numbers were off. 

- Jack Taylor stated that was how much that rate is increasing.  So the average bill 

would increase $2.19.   He said that the numbers are not off. 

 

- Matt Ence left the meeting. 

 

- Jack Taylor stated that last time they did the rate study increase, one of the things the 

City Council wanted to do was to make sure that the first 500 or 1,000 kWh were not 

messed with because they didn’t want to hurt those who are on fixed incomes and 

widows.  But the study showed that is what is really hurting the City.  There are a lot of 

smaller homes where the usage is only 900-1,100 kWh so they are not getting up into 

the higher tier.  They are not paying their fair share. 

- Tode Hafen asked about the comparison study and if the base rate was averaged in it 

somehow or if this was in addition to a base rate. 

- Jack Taylor said that it’s just residential rate.  He said to look at the page with the 

base included (Residential Power Bill 1,400 kWh).  He stated that what they would 

like to go through these three years with these proposed increases then have a 

resolution that says they will have a 1% increase each year.  He said that he 

recommends they look at it every year.  He said that part of the City’s cost is the 

Central-St. George Project which is the line from Central to St. George.  He would like 

to bring this back to the Council for approval on the October 28th City Council meeting.   

- Ed Dickie, City Manager, stated that he doesn’t think they want to make it effective 

until January 2016. 

- Brock Jacobsen stated that as he looked at this and talked with the Moody’s regarding 

the Bond Covenants, the City is going to be really close as to whether they are going to 

make it or not.  What is the City going to do if they don’t?  He said that looking at this 

increase, his concern is the dollar increase.  The increase is $52,000 and he feels that 

this is not getting the City where they need to be.  He said that his tweak would be to 

give Block 2 a different rate.  (See attached.)  He would increase the numbers by 

0.0857 in 2016 and then in 2017 it would be 0.0874 on the second tier.  It would 



Santa Clara City Council Work Meeting Page 5 

October 7, 2015 

increase it to $108,000.  It gets it more insurance that the City would meet its bond.  He 

feels that the $52,000 isn’t going to cover where the City needs to be going forward.   

He said that right now even the base rate is not covering the Debt Service, which it 

needs to do.  The City has an additional Debt Service that they are paying at UAMPS.  

He said that the City’s Debt Service isn’t changing but it’s the others that are changing 

that the City is not covering.  So the base rate needs to be increased to cover the debt 

and the transmission.   

- Jack Taylor stated that you need to have the base rate high enough to cover the bond 

payments.   

- Ed Dickie stated that if the Council wants to bring this back, they could have the 

public hearing.  He said they can bring the two options: they can bring the study and 

what they’re recommending and what the staff is recommending as far as meeting that 

bond. 

- Jack Taylor stated that he will take Brock Jacobsen’s numbers that he recommends 

and take them to Dan, who did the study, and have him punch the numbers in the study 

and then compare them.  He suggests to bring this back to the next Work Meeting in 

November. 

- Brock Jacobsen said that Jack Taylor will get with Dan at UFF and do his analysis, 

and Brock will bring what he comes up with and there will be a third option that has 

more going on the base rate to discuss at the November Work Meeting.   

- Ed Dickie stated that they will do this at the Work Meeting on November 4. 

 

3.  Staff Reports Continued: 

 

Fire Chief Dan Nelson 

 There is not a lot going on.  It has been a really busy summer for the crews.  They 

are all home safe.   

 Swiss Days Dinner: They made just above what they did last year. 

 

Brock Jacobsen 

 New phones were installed at the City buildings. 

 A new sound system is being installed in City Council Chambers. 

 Finishing up the audit. 

 

Jack Taylor 

 Finished up the Rosenberg Road with the help of the County. 

 They are ready for the Highway Project to start on the first of November. 

 Applied for a CIB Loan and Grant.  The application has been turned in and will be 

coming to Council at the next meeting for approval. 

 Received a Grant from UDOT and got $175,000 for Highway 91 project. 

 The State came and did a Dam Inspection and they passed with flying colors. 

 They also had a Water Inspection and passed.  There were a couple of small issues 

but they have been taken care of. 

 Herb Basso asked Jack to check all of the drainage systems for flood control.  He 

also asked if the block wall demo by the dog park could be taken down.  It could be 

a little bit of a liability. 

 



Santa Clara City Council Work Meeting Page 6 

October 7, 2015 

Corey Bundy 

 Harmons is coming along.  The block people will be finished with the main 

structure on the 16th.  Trusses will be delivered on the 15th.  It’s still on schedule.  

They want to start moving in product by the end of December.   

 Got a request for a General Plan Amendment from Kent Frei for Lava Cove Drive 

and Little League Drive.  He’s asking to rezone that to get some multi-family 

dwellings in there.  He will be coming in to Planning Commission for that 

Amendment. 

 Stuart Summerville, who has a solar shop in the Historic District, is asking for a 

review of his site plan for a building permit.  He wants to build a shop for putting 

together solar panels. 

 Ross Williams has a dwelling and wants to request a second dwelling.  He will 

bring this request to the Planning Commission. 

 The City has resurfaced the parking lot of the old City Office and the new City 

Office, the cemetery and Fire Department.  Striping will take place at the new City 

Office on Friday.   

 

Ed Dickie 

 Tomorrow (Thursday) they have a meeting with the Mayor to go over their 

Emergency Response Plan that the Police Department changed for them in the 

wake of the flood disaster that the City had and will integrate the new Dam 

Emergency Plan. 

 Went to Seattle last week for a Conference and will be meeting with Chris and 

Bradi to go over with them the City’s website and more community involvement 

with it.  There is a new application that is for the Town Hall agenda and is 

interactive. 

 Will be sending out a monthly update on Friday afternoon.  They will be having a 

staff meeting and he will be sending out the update to the Council.     

 

4. Adjournment: 

 

Meeting Adjourned at 6:34 p.m. 

 

 

 

 

    __________________________    Date Approved: ________________ 

Chris Shelley – City Recorder 

 


